Aus der Klinik für Thorax, Herz und Gefäßchirurgie Universitätsklinikum des Saarlandes, UKS, Homburg/Saar (Direktor: Prof. Dr med. H-J. Schäfers)

Local recurrence after laser-assisted pulmonary metastasectomy

Lokalrezedivrate nach laserunterstützter pulmonaler Metastasektomie

Dissertation zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Medizin

Der medizinischen Fakultät der Universität des Saarlandes 2022

Vorgelegt von:

Ahmad Shalabi

geb. am 25.01.1992 in Jerusalem/ Palästina

Table of contents

Abstract	4
Objective	4
Methods	4
Results	4
Conclusion	5
Zusammenfassung	6
Ziel und Hintergrund	6
Methoden	6
Ergebnisse	6
Schlussfolgerungen	7
Introduction	8
Background	8
Historical note	8
Pathophysiology of metastases	9
Diagnosis of pulmonary metastases	10
General management of pulmonary metastases	11
Nd:YAG LPM	14
Local recurrence at the resection margin following PM	15
Objective and purpose	17
Patients and methods	18
Patients	18
Study design, inclusion and exclusion criteria	18
Data collection and variables definitions	20
Surgical technique	20
Statistical analysis	21
Results	22
Patient characteristics	22

Local recurrence and associated factors	25
Survival analysis	28
Discussion	30
Limitations	40
Conclusion	41
List of abbreviations	42
List of figures	43
List of tables	44
References	45
Acknowledgements	456
Curriculum vitae	57

Abstract

Objective

Indications for surgery and resection techniques for pulmonary metastasectomy (PM) are controversial. However, a recent consensus favoured pulmonary parenchyma-sparing resection as it preserves functionally healthy lung tissue, although this can increase the risk of local recurrence at the surgical margin. Laser-assisted PM (LPM) is a relatively recent innovation that is particularly useful when applied for multiple metastatic pulmonary nodules. This study investigated the rate of local recurrence after LPM and evaluated the influence of various clinical and pathological factors.

Methods

Retrospectively, a total of 280 metastatic nodules with different histopathological entities in 101 patients were studied after LPM between 2010 and 2018. All nodules were resected using a diode-pumped neodymium-yttrium aluminium garnet (Nd:YAG) 1,318-nm laser maintaining a safety margin of 5 mm. The patients were observed postoperatively on average for 44 ± 17 months. Cox regression model was used to investigate the risk of local recurrence per nodule.

Results

Local recurrence at the surgical margin following LPM was found in 7 of the 101 patients (6.93%) and 9 nodules out of 280 nodules (3.21%). Local recurrence at the surgical margin occurred postoperatively after 20 \pm 8.5 months. Two nodule features were associated with a significantly increased risk of local recurrence at the surgical margin: incomplete resection (*p* = <0.01) and the size of the nodule (*p* = <0.01). The histology of the primary disease showed no impact on local recurrence. The 3- and 5-year survival rates were 84% and 49%, respectively. Local recurrence had no significant influence on survival (*p* = 0.9).

Conclusion

Following LPM, the rate of local recurrence was low. This was influenced by the size of the metastatic nodules and the completeness of the resection. A safety margin of 5 mm seemed to be sufficient.

Zusammenfassung

Ziel und Hintergrund

Die pulmonale Metastasektomie (PM) ist eine häufig durchgeführte Operation. Allerdings ist der Evidenz ihrer Wirksamkeit auf Register-Daten und chirurgische retrospektive Serien basiert. Trotz der fehlenden randomisierten Studien deuten mehrere Fallberichte und kleine Serien darauf hin, dass eine Resektion das Überleben verlängert und dass bei einigen Patienten mit isolierter Lungenbeteiligung ein langfristiges rezidivfreies Überleben (oder sogar eine Heilung) möglich ist. PM kann mit verschiedenen chirurgischen Techniken durchgeführt werden. Beim Nd:YAG-Laser ist eine vollständige Resektion in einer signifikanten höheren Anzahl von Metastasen möglich. Bezüglich eines akzeptablen Sicherheitsabstandes zur Vermeidung von Lokalrezidiven, gibt es jedoch bisher keine Daten.

Methoden

Retrospektiv wurde von 2010 bis 2018 insgesamt 280 metastasierte Herde unterschiedlicher Primarien in 101 Patienten nach laserunterstützter Lungenmetastasektomie untersucht. Alle Herde wurden mit einem diodengepumpten Nd:YAG 1.318 nm Laser mit einem Sicherheitsabstand von 5 mm reseziert. Die eingeschlossenen Patienten wurden durchschnittlich 44 ±17 Monate nach der Operation beobachtet. Das CoxRegressionsmodell wurde verwendet, um das Risiko eines Lokalrezidivs pro Herd und pro Patient zu untersuchen.

Ergebnisse

Bei 9 aus 280 Herde (3,21%) und bei 7 von 101 Patienten (6,93%) wurde ein lokales Rezidiv nach laserunterstützter Lungenmetastasektomie festgestellt. Ein lokales Rezidiv trat durchschnittlich 20 \pm 8,5 Monate nach der Operation auf. Zwei Merkmale, waren mit einem signifikant erhöhten Risiko eines Lokalrezidivs am Operationsrand verbunden: eine unvollständige Resektion (p=<0,01) und die Größe des Herdes (p=<0,01). Die Histologie der Primarius zeigte keinen Einfluss auf das Lokalrezidiv. Das Drei- und

Fünfjahresüberleben betrug 84% bzw. 49%. Das Antreten eines Lokalrezidivs hatte keinen signifikanten Einfluss auf das Überleben (p=0,9).

Schlussfolgerungen

Nach einer laserunterstützten Lungenmetastasektomie ist die Lokalrezidivrate niedrig. Dies wird durch die Größe des Herdes und die Vollständigkeit der Resektion beeinflusst. Ein Sicherheitsabstand von 5 mm scheint ausreichend zu sein.

Introduction

Background

Pulmonary metastasis is defined as a secondary malignant tumour of the lung or pleura originating from a different organ of the body [1]. The lung is one of the most common organs to have metastases from different primary malignancies. Autopsy reports demonstrate that up to 54% of patients diagnosed with cancer had pulmonary metastases [1]. Accordingly, pulmonary metastasectomy (PM) is the second most performed operation in thoracic surgery [2]. Compared to the abundant literature on primary lung cancer surgery, especially non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), evidence regarding a safe resection margin for PM is either lacking or unclear [3], [4]. Pulmonary metastases are usually resected as an atypical resection using stapling devices as a standard technique [2]. Laser-assisted pulmonary metastasectomy (LPM) is a relatively recent innovation that is especially useful when applied for multiple metastatic pulmonary nodules.

Historical note

The first description of a PM is believed to have been made in 1927 by Davis [5]. In 1939, Barney and Churchill performed a lobectomy for renal cancer metastasis [6]. Blalock described pneumonectomy as a treatment option for metastatic colon cancer in 1944 [7]. Alexander and Haight, having performed the first large series of metastasectomies in 1947, proposed the first set of criteria for surgery [8]. Since then, PM became a popular and widely accepted treatment modality for pulmonary metastases. The International Registry of Lung Metastases (IRLM) was established in 1990, and video-assisted thoracic surgery (VATS) thrived in the 2000s as a diagnostic and operative technique for different pulmonary diseases, including PM. In parallel, multiple studies were carried out using neodymium-yttrium aluminium garnet (Nd:YAG) 1,318-nm laser for pulmonary resections based on experience with 1,064-nm Nd:YAG lasers for endobronchial interventions [9]–[12]. Rolle et al. (2002) published

promising PM outcomes using a 1,318-nm Nd:YAG laser on a group of 100 patients [13].

Pathophysiology of metastases

The question of why certain tumours metastasise to certain organs has been studied for over a hundred years. In 1889, the English surgeon, Paget, concluded that certain tumour cells, which he called the 'seed', had a special affinity for the environment of certain organs, which he called the 'soil' [1]. Later, Ewing challenged this 'seed and soil' theory by proposing that metastases occur purely due to mechanical factors based on the anatomical structure of the host organ [1]. Advances in biomolecular, cellular and bioimaging techniques have elucidated that the metastatic process is complex and multistep. This process is known as the metastatic cascade [14]. Tumour cells have to directly or indirectly enter the circulatory system via the lymphatic system, so they need to survive in the bloodstream by avoiding the host's defences until they can arrest in the destination organ, where they extravasate into the tissue. Here at the new site, they have to initiate and maintain growth.

Labelling cancer cells showed that within the first 24 hours after entering circulation, <0.1% of tumour cells were viable and <0.01% of these cells survived to produce metastases [15]. Such observations posed the question what does this metastatic cascade really represent. Is it just fortunate survival and growth of very few tumour cells or whether the primary tumour is becoming more malignant and stochastically spreading metastatic cells without modifying its genetic profile. Recent breakthroughs in gene expression profiling have shed light on the characteristic gene signatures of metastatic tumours [16]. Moreover, the presence of metastases in a variety of adenocarcinomas is predictable in laboratory experiments [17]; however, such studies in humans are yet to be performed. Nevertheless, identifying and understanding the steps of the metastatic cascade will provide insight into potential treatment options.

Diagnosis of pulmonary metastases

Metastatic nodules in the lungs are usually rounded and well circumscribed. They are found as an incidental finding or, as in the majority of cases, detected by routine chest computed tomography (CT) as part of a followup for a primary malignancy (Fig. 1) [1], [18]–[20]. Hilar or mediastinal lymphadenopathy may indicate lymph node metastases. These nodules occasionally present elements consistent with the site of the primary disease, such as calcification in metastatic osteosarcoma [1]. CT scans have replaced plain radiographs as the standard screening modality. High-resolution CT (HRCT) can detect lung nodules as small as 1 mm [21]. HRCT and conventional CT have a 100% sensitivity for 10 mm and larger nodules [22], but this sensitivity drops as the nodule size decreases [23]. The sensitivity of positron emission tomography (PET) scans varies significantly depending on the primary malignancy. For example, squamous cell carcinoma has a sensitivity of 93% whereas sarcoma has a sensitivity of only 44% [20], [24].



FIGURE 1. Chest computed tomography scan demonstrating a well-rounded, smoothsurfaced pulmonary metastasis in the left upper lobe (arrow).

Patients with pulmonary metastases usually have no symptoms that confirm its incidental finding, with the minority presenting with cough or haemoptysis if the metastases have invaded a central airway. Shortness of breath might be the case if an airway is blocked, causing atelectasis or, in cases of advanced disease, producing pleural effusion. Chest wall or pleura invasion can make pain the presenting symptom [18], [19].

General management of pulmonary metastases

Per definition and in terms of TNM staging, having distant metastases from a primary malignancy reflects an advanced stage of the disease that requires systemic therapy. Systemic therapy is used as the mainstay of therapy for patients with widespread metastatic disease. Sensitivity to chemotherapy is a major determinant of the treatment modality. This ranges from primary chemotherapy, where surgery is only for residual nodules, to mainly surgery for chemotherapy-resistant tumours [1][25]–[27]. In different histologies, chemotherapy is used adjunct to surgery [1], [27]–[29]. Chemotherapy can be also given as isolated perfusion of the lung, which allows selective delivery of high doses of chemotherapy with fewer systemic adverse effects. This is still experimental and quite invasive as it requires an extracorporeal circuit [30]. The impact of the new emerging und rapidly developing immunotherapy is highly anticipated. Compared to the systemic therapy, other treatment modalities target only the metastatic nodules. Local control of pulmonary metastases is mainly achieved by the following:

• Radiofrequency ablation (RFA)

The principle of RFA is to cause tumour necrosis by creating frictional heat in the tissue using an alternating current. Metastatic nodules should be peripheral, small and not abut mediastinal structures, which can act as heat buffers [1], [31], [32]. The complications of RFA are mostly mild and self-limiting but can include pain, pneumothorax, fever, hemoptysis, pleural effusion and abscess formation [31]. Studies have reported significant differences in response and survival for nodules >3 cm vs those <3 cm [31], [32]. Complete ablation after RFA is seen in <40% of nodules [33]. Two-year survival after RFA for metastatic nodules of varying histology was about 68% [31]. These results are considered inferior to those after surgical resection. Therefore, RFA should be used for medically unfit patients or for those who refuse surgery [1][27].

• Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT)

SBRT is precisely targeted radiation, where a high dose of radiation is delivered to the target point (the tumour), aimed at tumour control while minimizing harmful effects on neighbouring healthy tissue. SBRT candidates should meet the same criteria as for RFA [1]. Complications, seen in around 5% of patients, are mostly pneumonitis (grade 2 or higher) and rib fractures [1], [34]. The limitations of SBRT are seen in tumours with larger diameters or when dealing with multiple nodules as attempting to minimize tissue toxicity is challenging. Data regarding SBRT for pulmonary metastases is scarce. A multi-institutional phase I/II trial showed a median survival of 19 months [34]. Similar to RFA, SBRT can be a good alternative for medically unfit patients or those who refuse surgery, but it is not a good primary modality for treatment [1], [27].

• Surgical resection: pulmonary metastasectomy (PM)

In 1947, Alexander and Haight set criteria for recruiting patients for PM surgery [8], and while their selection criteria have been modified over the years, its broad principles have been preserved [35], [36]. The current criteria for PM, as clearly presented by Kondo et al., is shown in (Table 1) [36].

Casiraghi et al. argued that improved surgical techniques and more effective systemic therapies, which expand the role of surgery, have made PM the standard therapy for properly selected patients [37]. With the appropriate selection of patients, 5-year survival rates, as reported to the IRLM, were 20%–40% in 1997 [38]. A more recent series reported a 5-year survival rate of 50%, demonstrating the potential of reaching a 64% 5-year survival rate [37], [39], [40].

Table 1. Current general criteria for pulmonary metastasectomy

٠	The patient's risk for surgery must be low
٠	The site of the primary malignancy is controlled
•	No extrapulmonary metastases, or, if present, they can be controlled by surgery or
	any different treatment modality
•	Pulmonary metastases are thought to be completely resectable

In the real-life practice of PM, different approaches (i.e. VATS, thoracotomy and sternotomy) and different surgical techniques are widely accepted and applied. Surgeons differentiate between risk and benefit measurements. Some tend to minimize surgical trauma and postoperative pain using minimally invasive techniques (i.e. VATS). Others favour open techniques, which allow bimanual palpation of the whole lung, to maximise the likelihood of detecting and resecting all nodules, especially those not seen by CT. As previously mentioned, the inability to completely resect all metastatic nodules is globally considered a contraindication to PM. Survival data indicate that complete resection of metastases is linked to better outcomes. According to the IRLM series, for example, the 5-year survival with complete vs incomplete resection was 36% vs 13% [38]. The resection of lung parenchyma in general, or metastatic nodules in this case, can be performed anatomically or nonanatomically (atypical) using different resection or energy devices. Anatomical resection is based on the anatomical fissures and segmental tree of the lung, segmentectomies, lobectomies and pneumonectomies. including Nonanatomical resection or atypical resection includes resecting lung parenchyma or lung nodules as a wedge or the enucleation of lung nodules irrespective of fissures and the segmental tree of the lung. Regardless of the approach used, aiming to preserve lung parenchyma, which directly means preserving pulmonary function, while performing PM is critically important [2], [27].

Achieving a complete resection, even at the microscopic level (R0 resection [41]), is the main tenet of PM. Consequently, this determines the extent of the resection [27]. Large or centrally located nodules usually require lobectomy, pneumonectomy is less indicated and should be avoided.

Segmentectomy, which can also be performed with VATS, plays an important role for nodules where wedge resection is technically impossible and lobectomy is not necessary [42]. According to Berry et al., segmentectomy accounts for 3%–23% of PM procedures, and they also reported lower mortality and morbidity rates than for lobectomy [43]. As most metastatic lung nodules are located in the periphery of the lung, they are usually resected non-anatomically [44]. This is easy and mostly performed using stapling devices, which is widely considered the standard technique [2]. Alternatively, nodule enucleation by electrocautery or laser can be used for PM. Compared to laser, the risk of bleeding, fistula and air leakage is increased after monopolar-cutter resection [45].

Nd:YAG LPM

Because the core selection criteria for PM have remained unchanged over the years, surgical techniques and advances have shown remarkable development and major breakthroughs. A global tendency towards nonanatomical resections was recently translated into a consensus that considers parenchyma-sparing resections the recommended gold standard [27]. New modalities, such as electrocautery, LigaSure and 1,318-nm Nd:YAG laser were introduced to serve this concept. In 1967, Minton et al. pioneered the use of the Nd:YAG laser in thoracic surgery in their experiment using a 1,064-nm Nd:YAG laser in a rabbit lung model [46]. Since then, further experiments have investigated different laser wavelengths. Rolle and his colleagues demonstrated in several publications the superiority of the 1,318-nm Nd:YAG laser compared to the 1,064-nm Nd:YAG laser for lung resection [10], [12], [47], [48]. In 2002, Rolle et al. published the outcomes of the first 100 PM patients' 1,318-nm Nd:YAG laser resections [13]. In their animal model, Kirschbaum et al. demonstrated lower risks of bleeding, fistula and air leakage after Nd:YAG laser resection compared to monopolar electrocautery [45].

Relatively few studies have reported results after LPM. A potential advantage of the Nd:YAG laser is its ability to resect a significantly higher number of pulmonary metastases with minor parenchymal loss [2]. The ability to resect more nodules even in a bilateral setting by LPM without a negative influence on survival has been presented by more than one study [49]–[51]. Moreover, the need to perform anatomical resections is significantly reduced [51]. In a review of published LPM studies, Macherey et al. summed a 0% mortality rate after LPM reported in 8 studies, where the morbidity rate ranged between 8.7% and 24.2%, while it was 1.2% in the largest collective of 328 patients [52]. Furthermore, LPM in a VATS-based approach was reported to be safe and doable [53], [54]. Although the unneglectable disadvantage of 1,318-nm Nd:YAG laser is its high cost, the cost could be recovered after approximately 300 surgical cases not using parenchymal staplers [55].

Local recurrence at the resection margin following PM

The shift from anatomical resections towards parenchyma-sparing resections is accompanied by a higher frequency of local recurrence at the surgical margin, which represents a significant downside (Fig. 2) [42], [56], [57]. Over the years, this has not been sufficiently addressed, and perhaps only recently, more detailed analysis has been on pulmonary metastases from colorectal origin [42], [56], [58]. This focus on colorectal origin has mainly arisen for two reasons: it is the most common pathological entity of pulmonary metastases and it has a higher local recurrence rate at the surgical margin than metastases from other malignancies [42], [56]. Local recurrence at the surgical margin reflects molecular-biological properties along the PM mechanical resection line. Tumour biology, nodule size, the number of undetected micrometastases (i.e. aerogenous spread with floating cancer cell clusters [ASFC]) and, most importantly, the completeness of the resection are all proven factors of significance [56], [57], [59]. However, this important histo-biological information is only available postoperatively after pathological examination [42].

In general, local recurrence at the surgical margin after PM is estimated to occur after 4%–31% of PMs [56], [59], [60]. In comparison, it has been suggested that local recurrence at the surgical margin after segmentectomy is lower than after wedge resection, although no comparative studies have been published [42], [61].



FIGURE 2. A) and B): Chest computed tomography scan demonstrating the radiological appearance of a local recurrence at the resection site after laser-assisted pulmonary metastasectomy. In both sections (circled), a new mass has emerged at the former resection site. A surgical metallic clip can be seen within the mass.

Objective and purpose

PM is the second most common surgical procedure in thoracic surgery, occupying 15%–50% of the thoracic surgery workload in Europe [2]. Yet, PM remains one of the most debatable topics in thoracic surgery. In 2008, after surveying its members, the European Society of Thoracic Surgeons (ESTS) reported a wide range of opinions and practices concerning timing, indications, surgical technique, appropriate extent and limitations of PM [62]. Nevertheless, in 2019, the american society of thoracic surgeons (STS) went on to publish expert recommendations regarding indications and surgical techniques: non-anatomical resection was recommended as the standard technique for PM [27].

This ongoing shift towards non-anatomical parenchyma-sparing resections raised the concern of an increased local recurrence rate at the surgical margin. This challenging problem has not been sufficiently addressed, and the mechanism of local recurrence and its determinant factors are only partially understood. The use of an Nd:YAG laser for PM causes vaporization and coagulation of lung tissue, which thereby increases the safety margin around resected nodules. Thus, the application of an Nd:YAG laser for PM could be the answer; that is, parenchyma-sparing PM with reduced risk of local recurrence at the surgical margin. Evidence for this is scarce in the literature, although Franzke et al.'s study reported a local recurrence rate of 0.8% after LPM, even though this was not the primary question of their research [63]. While not significantly lower than non-laser PM, Franzke et al observed a trend.

The current work aimed to

- evaluate local recurrence at the surgical margin after LPM,
- investigate the efficacy of the 5-mm safety margin applied in LPM, and
- identify the major risk factors for local recurrence after LPM.

Patients and methods

Patients

This retrospective study aimed to investigate local recurrence after LPM. Patients who underwent any operation with the code 'laser-assisted pulmonary metastasectomy' were identified using intraoperative coding and documentation. Between January 2010 and December 2018, 220 patients with different primary malignant diseases underwent 'laser-assisted pulmonary metastasectomy' at the department of thoracic and vascular surgery at the Löwenstein Lung Medical Centre, Löwenstein, Germany.

A retrospective analysis of these patients based on their medical and radiological records was performed. In all of these cases, the primary malignancy had been successfully controlled. Some patients had other nonpulmonary metastatic nodules that had been already controlled or were controllable. The indication for PM was individually set for each patient, and the same was applied for repeated PM for disease recurrence (new nodules), so these patients were also included. This study was approved by the ethical committee of the state medical association of Baden-Württemberg.

Study design, inclusion and exclusion criteria

The main outcome of this study was the local recurrence rate at the surgical margin. Secondary outcomes were to identify risk factors that influence local recurrence at the surgical margin and survival and local recurrence-free survival. Here, we studied and followed up patients and analysed the risk for local recurrence at the surgical margin per nodule resected. Follow-up was performed by CT of the chest at 3-, 6- and 12-month intervals. The follow-up was performed by either the surgical team in the outpatient clinic or the patient's oncologist or pulmonologist. Postoperative follow-up imaging was reviewed for evidence of local recurrence at the surgical margin and surgical margin. Follow-up CTs were reviewed by a board-certified radiologist or the surgical team.

All patients who underwent LPM with pathologically confirmed metastatic nodules were included. Exclusion criteria were a pathologically malignant surgical margin (R1 or R2 [41]), re-operated nodules after local recurrence, explosive disease recurrence hindering follow-up of the resected nodules, no follow-up CT/data or a follow-up at <24 months (Fig. 3). In cases where intraoperative diversions from the plan had occurred, for example, conversion to segmentectomy or the use of monopolar cautery was necessary, nodules resected not using Nd:YAG laser were excluded from the study but not the whole patient.

Laser assisted pulmonary metastasectomy 2010-2018 **220 patients**

119 patients excluded:

- 28 patients with a pathology showing benign disease or primary lung cancer
- 47 patients with a follow-up of less than 24 months
- 38 patients with missing follow-up data
- 4 patients with reoperated nodules
- 2 patients with explosive recurrence of the disease postoperatively

Included in the analysis 280 nodules in 101 patients

FIGURE 3. Inclusion flowchart showing the exclusion criteria.

Data collection and variables definitions

Data collection for patients followed up at the Löwenstein Lung Medical Centre was performed by reviewing their local medical records. Data collection for patients who were followed up by their oncologist or pulmonologist required access to the most recent patient records. The oncologists and pulmonologists were contacted and asked to send copies of these records.

The following parameters were obtained and analysed: age, gender, primary disease and its stage, disease-free interval (DFI), use of systemictherapy, number of nodules and their size and location, pleural involvement, lymph node metastasis, surgical approach (i.e. VATS vs anterolateral thoracotomy), complications, mortality, follow-up period, completeness of resection (R status) and local recurrence at the surgical margin.

DFI was defined as the interval between the resection of the primary malignancy and the first detection of pulmonary metastases. DFI was considered to be zero in cases where pulmonary metastases developed synchronously with the primary malignancy. Nodule size was defined as the size measured on the gross pathological examination. Completeness of the resection (R status) was the one given by the pathologist. When tumour cells reached the coagulation zone, the Rx was given. Local recurrence at the surgical margin was defined as postoperative tumour development at the resection line (coagulation zone) detected by CT by the radiologist or surgical team (Fig. 2) or pathologically confirmed post resection.

Surgical technique

A diode-pumped Nd:YAG laser (Limax; KLS Martin Group, Germany) was used for all PMs. LPMs over nine years were performed by different surgeons under the supervision of one head of department. Nevertheless, the local surgical standard that insists on resecting a 5-mm safety margin from each nodule was strictly followed. The operative approach (i.e. VATS vs anterolateral thoracotomy) was set by the surgical team after thorough preoperative planning by chest CT scans and considering the patient's status and fitness. In cases of bilateral disease, staged resections were performed 4–6 weeks apart. All LPMs were performed under general anaesthesia with single-lung ventilation in the lateral decubitus position. The clinical completeness of the resection was fulfilled for each nodule.

Statistical analysis

Cox proportional hazard model was used to investigate the factors associated with increased risk of local recurrence at the surgical site after LPM in univariate and multivariate analyses. All reported p values are from two-sided tests, and the significance level was set to <0.05. The statistical significance of each factor's effect on local recurrence was assessed using a logrank test. All analyses and plots were performed using the 'survival' and 'survminer' packages of R[®], Version 4.0.3.

Results

Patient characteristics

From the 101 patients included in this study, 280 nodules were studied and analysed. On average, each patient had 2.77 nodules, while 41 patients had a single-nodule disease. Of the 101 patients, 65 (64.3%) were male, with a mean age of 58.8 years, and 36 (35.6%) were female, with a mean age of 66.5 years. In general, the mean age at operation was 65.7 years (range: 27–82 \pm 10.8). Baseline data per patient and per nodule are described in Tables 2 and 3. A total of 129 operations were performed, and the VATS approach was used for 5 operations (5 patients). The included patients were postoperatively observed on average for 44 \pm 17 months.

	Number (percent)	Local recurrence / patient (percent)
Sex		
Male	65 (64.36%)	5 (5/65 = 7.6%)
Female	36 (35.64%)	2 (2/36 = 5.5%)
Spread of the disease	n=92	
Bilateral disease	54 (58.6%)	5 (5/54 = 9.2%)
Ipsilateral disease	38 (41.3%)	2 (2/38 = 5.2%)
Single nodule	41 (40.6%)	2 (2/41 = 4.8%)
Multiple nodules	60 (59.4%)	5 (5/60 = 8.3%)
DFI	n= 92	
DFl < 36 m	61 (66.3%)	4 (4/61 = 6.5%)
DFI ≥ 36 m	31 (33.7%)	2 (2/31 = 6.4%)
Perioperative chemotherapy	n= 90	
Chemotherapy	67 (74.4%)	6 (6/67 = 8.9%)
No chemotherapy	23 (25.5%)	1 (1/23 = 4.3%)
OP approach		
Anterolateral-thoracotomy	96 (95.04%)	7 (7/96 = 7.29%)
VATS	5 (4.95%)	0
Lymphnode metastases		
Present	7 (6.93%)	0
Abscent	94 (93.06%)	7 (7/94 = 7.44%)
Total	101	7 (7/101 = 6.93%)

 Table 2. Baseline data per patient. DFI: disease-free interval.

	Number n=280 (percent)	Local recurrence / nodule (percent)
Sex		
Male	183 (65.36%)	7 (7/183 = 3.83%)
Female	97 (34.64%)	2 (2/97 = 2.06%)
R status		
RO	217 (77.50%)	5 (5/217 = 2.30%)
Rx	63 (22.50%)	4 (4/63 = 6.34%)
Size		
<12 mm	188 (67.14%)	3 (3/188 = 1.59%)
≥12 mm	92 (32.85%)	6 (6/92 = 6.52%)
Spread of the disease	n=268	
Bilateral disease	203 (75.74%)	7 (7/203 = 3.44%)
Ipsilateral disease	65 (24.25%)	2 (2/65 = 3.07%)
Location		
UL	108 (38.57%)	4 (4/108 = 3.70%)
ML	31 (11.07%)	1 (1/31 = 3.22%)
LL	141 (50.35%)	4 (4/141 = 2.83%)
Total	280	9 (9/280 =3.21%)

Table 3. Baseline data per nodule. UL: upper lobe, ML: middle lobe, and LL: lower lobe.

The majority of the primary malignancies were colorectal carcinoma (48.5%), followed by renal cell carcinoma (21.7%). Metastases from primary lung cancer contributed to 8.9% of the patients, while other types of cancer contributed to the rest (20.8%). A detailed distribution of the patients based on primary malignancy is presented in Table 4. Perioperative chemotherapy was administered in 67 (74.4%) patients; this varied according to the primary disease and its stage. Clinical completeness of the resection was achieved in all patients and for each nodule. Rx, was found in 63 (22.5%) nodules. Lymphadenectomy was performed in 92 patients (91.0%), and among these, 7 patients (7.6%) showed evidence of lymph node metastases. Postoperative complications were seen after 10.8% of LPM.

Table 4. Patient distribution in respect of primary disease.

Primary disease	Number of patients (n=101)	Percentage
Colorectal adenocarcinoma	49	48.51%
Renal cell carcinoma	22	21.78%
Endometrial Cancer	2	1.98%
Esophageal adenocarcinoma	1	0.99%
Soft tissue sarcoma	6	5.94%
Maxillary sinus carcinoma	1	0.99%
Melanoma	2	1.98%
Neuroendocrine Tumor of the GI	1	0.99%
Urothelial carcinoma	2	1.98%
Pancreatic Cancer	1	0.99%
Pappillary Thyroid Cancer	2	1.98%
Pleomorphic adenoma (Submandibular gland)	1	0.99%
Prostate cancer	2	1.98%
Pulmonary adenocarcinoma	6	5.94%
Pulmonary squamous carcinoma	3	2.97%
Thymoma	1	0.99%

Table 5. Local recurrence at the surgical margin in respect of primary disease per nodule.

Primary disease	Number of nodules	Local recurrence n=9 (% per disease), {% of nodules with reccurence}
Colorectal adenocarcinoma	139	7 (5.03%) {77.77%}
Endometrial cancer	6	0
Esophageal adenocarcinoma	6	0
Leiomosarcoma	3	0
Liposarcoma (Retroperitoneum)	1	0
Maxillary sinus carcinoma	2	0
Melanoma	2	0
Neuroendocrine Tumor of the GI	2	0
Urothelial carcinoma	4	1 (25.00%) {11.11%}
Pancreatic cancer	1	0
Papillary Thyroid cancer	7	0
Pleomorphic adenoma (Submandibular gland)	7	0
Pleomorphic liposarcoma	2	0
Pleomorphic sarcoma	3	1 (33.33%) {11.11%}
Prostate cancer	4	0
Pulmonary adenocarcinoma	8	0
Pulmonary squamous carcinoma	4	0
Renal cell carcinoma	70	0
Thymoma	9	0
Total	280	9

Local recurrence and associated factors

After a minimum postoperative follow-up of 24 months, local recurrence at the surgical margin was detected in 9 nodules (3.2%) in 7 patients (6.9%). Local recurrence occurred on average after 19.6 \pm 8.6 months postoperatively. Of these 9 nodules with local recurrence, 7 (77%) were pulmonary metastases from colorectal origin. Local recurrence was found in 5% of colorectal metastatic nodules. All nine nodules were reoperated, and local recurrence at the surgical margin was resected. The distribution of nodules with local recurrence among primary malignancies is shown in Table 5. The DFI varied grossly for nodules with local recurrence, ranging from 0 (synchronous pulmonary metastases) to 60 months, and the DFI was on average 18.3 \pm 22 months. Further specifications of local recurrence are listed in Tables 1 and 2.

Local recurrence was significantly influenced by the size of the nodule (hazard ratio [HR]: 1.08, 95% CI: 1.0%–1.1%, p = <0.001 logrank test). The size was significantly higher in nodules with local recurrence (p = 0.02, Welch's two-sample t-test). Nodules with local recurrence had an average size of 17.3 ± 8.3 mm (mean 17), while nodules that did not develop local recurrence had an average size of 9.5 ± 6.5 mm (mean 8). Moreover, the HR of the local recurrence showed a significant cut-off point of 12 mm (HR: 4.08, 95% CI: 1.2%–16.3%, p = 0.03 logrank test). This is demonstrated in Fig. 4. The location of the nodule according to the anatomical lobes of the lung did not affect local recurrence (p = 0.97).



Figure 4. Cumulative hazard of local recurrence for the size of the nodule with 12 mm as the cut-off point. Time in months. Green curve: nodules \geq 12 mm, red curve: nodules <12 mm. *P* = 0.03 (logrank test).

Completeness of the resection based on the R status postoperatively given by the pathologist had a significant impact on local recurrence (HR: 12.2, 95% CI: 2.5%–58.7%, p < 0.001 logrank test). The local recurrence for nodules with Rx status was 6.3%, while the local recurrence of nodules with R0 status was only 2.3%. The cumulative hazard for local recurrence according to R status is shown in Fig. 5.



Figure 5. Cumulative hazard for local recurrence for R status. Time in months. Green curve: Rx nodules, red curve: R0 nodules. P < 0.001 (logrank test).

Focusing on local recurrence per patient and per nodule, none of the other measured factors, such as DFI, gender, perioperative chemotherapy, lymph node metastases, operative approach and single-nodule disease, had no significant influence on local recurrence for both univariate and multivariate analyses. A trend was observed in patients with bilateral disease, but this was statistically insignificant (see Table 6). The effect of primary disease histology on local recurrence could not be detected in these 101 patients as the results of both the univariate and multivariate analyses were insignificant.

Variable	Hazard Ratio	95% CI	p Value	Type of analysis
Sex	0.64	0.1% - 3.3%	0.5970	Per patient
Age	1.02	0.9% - 1.1%	0.4760	Per patient
R status (R0 vs Rx)	12.19	2.5% - 58.7%	0.0018	Per nodule
Spread of the disease				Per patient
Single vs multiple nodules	1.18	0.2% - 6.1%	0.8380	
Bilateral disease	1.26	0.2% - 6.4%	0.7830	
Size of nodule	1.08	1.0% - 1.1%	0.0009	Per nodule
<12 mm vs ≥12 mm	4.08	1.0% - 16.3%	0.0469	
OP approach (VATS vs thoracotomy)	<0.001	0.0 - ∞	0.6000	Per patient
Lyphnodemetastases	<0.001	0.0 - ∞	0.5000	Per patient
Perioperative chemotherapy	0.45	0.0% - 3.7%	0.4610	Per patient
DFI	0.99	0.9% - 1.0%	0.6020	Per patient
<36 months vs ≥36 months	1.00	0.1% - 5.4%	0.9960	

Table 6. Univariate analysis for different measured factors and local recurrence at the surgical margin per patient and per nodule.

Survival analysis

Survival-related data could be collected from 96 (95%) of the 101 patients: 21 (21.8%) of them died and 75 (78.1%) were censored. Survival-related data in patients with local recurrence could be collected from five of seven patients: two of them died and three were censored. The 3- and 5-year overall survival (OS) were 84% and 49%, respectively, for all patients. Median survival for patients who had local recurrence was 45 months, whereas the other patients had a median survival of 49 months.

There was no significant difference in OS between patients with local recurrence and patients without (see Fig. 6); however, a significant correlation between age and survival was found (HR: 1.07, 95% CI: 1.01%-1.14%, p = 0.01 logrank test). No significant association was found between survival and gender,

perioperative chemotherapy, bilateral disease, lymph node metastases or DFI. However, a trend for better survival when the DFI was \geq 36 months was detected (HR: 0.84, 95% CI: 0.35%–2.02%, *p* = 0.7 logrank test).



Figure 6. Kaplan–Meier curve showing no significant survival difference for local recurrence at the surgical margin. Time in months. Green curve: patients with local recurrence, red curve: rest of the patients.

Discussion

Before the 1990s, although PM had been performed for decades, data in support of PM were lacking. Over the last 30 to 40 years, more than 1000 publications have addressed PM without a single randomized controlled trial (RCT) [27]. The PM literature contains a large set of publications with pervasive selection bias, no comparative analysis, variable follow-up length and inconsistent descriptions of adjacent local or systemic therapies [27]. Thus, surgical and non-surgical voices, as early as 1980, questioned the effectiveness of PM by arguing that this improved survival could be due to selection bias. In 1980, Aberg et al. demonstrated that the reasoning that assumed that survival would be zero without surgery was fallacious [64].

Therefore, the IRLM was founded in 1991 to establish the long-term results of PM. In 1997, an analysis of 5,206 cases of PM from 18 institutes across Europe, the USA and Canada with different pathological entities was published [38]. In this analysis, actuarial 5-, 10- and 15-year survival was 36%, 26% and 22%, respectively. This is the largest and the most influential publication in the PM literature. A few other registry articles defined and defended the practice of PM, and more importantly, indicated the significance of the selection criteria [27]. The benefit of PM was further demonstrated and supported by a multivariate analysis of 440 patients and a recent 10-year singleinstitute analysis of 708 PMs [37], [40]. The lack of RCTs was and still is a major flaw in the PM literature, and the main critique to the practice of PM is based on this issue [65], [66]. As a result of a later appeal to initiate a well-established RCT, a British trial, PulMiCC (pulmonary metastasectomy in colorectal cancer), funded by Cancer Research UK was launched in 2011. This trial was highly anticipated by oncologists and surgeons, but it was unfortunately stopped due to low recruitment. Nevertheless, the trial was published in 2019 as it randomized 65 patients with pulmonary metastases from colorectal origin to surgery (PM) or active monitoring [29]. The authors reported a 5-year survival of 38% (23%–62%) after PM and 29% (16%–52%) in well-matched controls.

Although this trial was underpowered to prove the benefit of PM and conclude its superiority, it serves as a verification of similar five-year survival rates frequently reported in the PM literature, thereby indirectly showing the superiority of PM.

Historically, the aim of PM has been to cure. This means the definitive treatment of primary disease and all secondary metastases, and it is measured by long-term survival without disease recurrence, which is referred to as disease-free survival (DFS). This is challenging as there is no clear time frame that represents 'long-term' and is simultaneously applicable to both indolent and rapid growing tumours. Although OS could be exchanged with DFS, this is an imperfect exchange [27]. Based on this, PM has been shown to provide long-term DFS and OS or a 'cure' across different pathologies in accordance with historically established selection criteria. In some patients, PM is the only therapeutic option [67], but in daily practice, PM in the majority of patients is never considered in isolation. PM is mostly considered in the context of a possible systemic therapy, which can be either alternative or adjunct [27].

In general, most of the cancer patients seek medical help late and present with an advanced stage of the primary disease with distant metastases, in this case, pulmonary metastases. Having one to five metastatic lesions, which are all manageable, is defined as oligometastatic disease [68]. Despite having distant pulmonary metastases, making it a stage IV disease, if this well selected group of patients with oligometastases underwent PM, they would have a 5-year survival reaching 64% [40], [69]. This special entity for oligometastases, based on gene expression analysis, justifies the widespread use of PM as a therapeutic option for this selected group [70]. However, setting a treatment plan for these patients is not straightforward and can be quite challenging. Nowadays, carefully individualized decision making within a multidisciplinary team is widely favoured [27].

A global-wide tendency towards more lung parenchyma-sparing PMs was recently confirmed by an expert consensus statement [27]. A lung parenchymasparing technique is critically important considering the possible need for further future resections for bilateral disease or in cases of disease recurrence. The occurrence of new pulmonary metastatic nodules after PM or even disease recurrence at a previous resection site is not uncommon. In certain populations, such as colorectal cancer or soft tissue sarcoma, this can be as high as 75% of the patients appealing a second resection in functionally fit patients [71]. In their study based on IRLM patients, Pastorino et al. reported 5- and 10-year survival rates after a second PM of 44% and 29%, respectively, compared with 34% and 25%, respectively, in patients with only one PM [38].

Although non-anatomical resections are considered parenchyma-sparing compared to anatomical resections, they are still associated with an unnecessary sacrifice of lung parenchyma. Wedge resection using staplers results in the loss of 'healthy' lung tissue due to the wedge form, especially in more deeply located nodules. Moreover, assuring a sufficient resection margin in VATS-based wedge resection might lead to a bigger sacrifice of lung tissue. Curved staplers were recently introduced to address this, but their use is not widely adopted. Therefore, the use of a 1,318-nm Nd:YAG laser for PM has emerged to serve this concept. For a given metastatic lung nodule of 25 mm, LPM resulted in a 7-times reduction in lost lung volume compared to standard wedge resection with a stapler [72]. Here, the Nd:YAG laser presents itself capable of resecting a significantly higher number of pulmonary metastases and reducing the need for lobectomy without negative influence on survival [2], [47]–[49], [63].

The purpose of this study was to estimate the rate of local recurrence at the surgical margin after LPM and evaluate the influence of various clinical and pathological factors. The inability to completely resect all metastatic nodules is widely considered a contraindication to PM [27]. Nearly all the PM literature demonstrates that complete resection of metastases is linked to better outcomes [27], [38], [56]. Regardless of the different factors proven to increase the risk of local recurrence at the surgical margin, local recurrence is at its core a form of incomplete resection at a microscopic level. Thus, local recurrence is

a significant adverse event that has a negative influence on survival [42], [73], [74]. The application of 1,318-nm Nd: YAG laser for PM is assumed to decrease the risk of local recurrence at the resection site due to the formation of a 5-mm coagulation zone at the resection line (see Fig. 7). In this coagulation zone, elevated temperatures destroy recessive tumour cells formed by ASFC. This study, aimed at testing this hypothesis, is the first to describe the rate of local recurrence at the surgical margin following LPM.



Figure 7. Weakened immunoreaction due to elevated temperatures in the coagulation zone at the resection line (on the right-hand side) of the specimen as seen by the pathologist.

This study included 280 metastatic pulmonary nodules with different histologies from 101 patients who underwent a total of 129 LPMs. After a minimum postoperative follow-up of 24 months, 9 nodules (3.2%) from 7 patients (6.9%) showed local recurrence at the surgical margin after an average of 19.6 \pm 8.6 months from the operation date. Of the 9 nodules, 7 (77%) (5 of 7 patients, or 71.4%) with local recurrence were pulmonary metastases from

colorectal origin. Local recurrence was found in 5% of colorectal metastatic nodules. Nevertheless, the effect of primary disease histology on local recurrence could not be seen in these 101 patients dominated by colorectal disease because the results of both the univariate and multivariate analysis were insignificant. In a histopathological analysis of pulmonary metastatic nodules, Welter et al. reported that ASFC (Fig. 8) was almost absent in metastases from sarcoma, melanoma and renal cell carcinoma, whereas metastases from colorectal carcinoma had the highest rate of ASFC [60]. They further reported that lymphangitic spread was seen in the metastases of renal cell carcinoma, but it was highest in melanoma metastases, and sarcoma metastases infiltrated the pleura the most [60]. Whether these differences in growth patterns between primary diseases would influence local recurrence after LPM should be investigated in a larger group of patients.



FIGURE 8. Satellite tumour cells, shown by CK20 staining (black arrows), floating around a pulmonary metastasis of colorectal origin [57].

In each patient, a safety margin of approximately 5 mm was maintained for each resection to ensure the clinical completeness of the resection for each nodule. Completeness of resection with a negative surgical margin (R0) is considered the key factor for avoiding local recurrence [61], [75]. After LPM, it is difficult and sometimes impossible to histopathologically confirm a complete resection due to the vaporization of the resection line and the pronounced coagulation zone. Therefore, this entity should be taken into consideration intraoperatively, and the completeness of the resection clinically evaluated [52], [61], [63]. In this case, if tumour cells reach the coagulation zone at the edge of the specimen, the pathologist would call it Rx 'undetermined', even though another 5–10 mm of vaporization and coagulation zone is yet to follow. Rx was determined by the pathologist for 63 (22.5%) nodules (Table 3). Four nodules showed local recurrence, which was significantly increased, reaching 6.34% for all Rx nodules compared to only 2.3% local recurrence for R0 nodules (p < p0.001) (Fig. 5). This suggests that despite the coagulation zone on both sides of the resection line, some of the Rx resections were incomplete (R1), thus necessitating the intraoperative role of clinical evaluation of the margins.

Even when complete resection was histopathologically confirmed (i.e. R0), local recurrence occurred. This phenomenon, although only partially understood, is well known and observed in non-laser PM. Satellite micrometastases due to ASFC, which is pathognomonic for pulmonary malignancies, have been presented to explain this issue [56], [57], [60]. Kawaguchi et al. recently showed that mucus extension in resected mucinous tumour hosts despite R0 resection had an increased risk for local recurrence after PM [76]. These factors persist as risk factors for local recurrence in R0 resections after LPM.

The local recurrence rate at the surgical margin after non-laser PM is relatively high, with published reports ranging between 9% and 30% [56], [58], [61], [77]. The numbers speak for themselves; the difference in local recurrence rate between LPM and non-laser PM is major. A 3.2% local recurrence rate after LPM manifests the protective effect of the coagulation zone produced, and

35

presents a safer resection if ASFC is suspected. Also, of note, almost all local recurrence studies after non-laser PM addressed colorectal pulmonary metastases. In the current study, the population with colorectal cancer had a 5.0% local recurrence rate (Table 5), which is still far less than non-laser PM. Shiono et al. tried to explain this issue: when both stapler jaws close in wedge resections, the surgical margin could be compromised even when a safety margin is obtained [56]. Moreover, the surgical margin could be even more compromised in a VATS-based wedge resection [63]. As mentioned earlier, data on LPM are limited, and only one study has reported on local recurrence after LPM. In their retrospective comparison of surgical outcomes after LPM and nonlaser PM, Franzke et al. commented on local recurrence as a secondary outcome [63]. They reported an interestingly low local recurrence rate of 0.8% after LPM vs 3.1% after non-laser PM. However, around 60% of their patients in both groups were followed up for <24 months, enhancing the possibility of latterly undetected local recurrence. Moreover, the detection of local recurrence after LPM in the early postoperative phase is quite hard, even for an expert. Minimal local tissue damage after laser application often forms haematomas, which have the same radiological appearance of early local recurrences. In other words, local recurrence in the early postoperative phase could be missed when considered as a haematoma. Or, local recurrence has not occurred yet. This makes their 0.8% and 3.1% local recurrence rates questionable.

In the current study, local recurrence was significantly (p = 0.02) correlated with nodule size. Nodules with local recurrence had an average size of 17.3 ± 8.3 mm (mean 17), while nodules that did not develop local recurrence had an average size of 9.5 ± 6.5 mm (mean 8). This is in accordance with published studies that investigated local recurrence after non-laser PM; as tumour size increases, the risk for local recurrence at the surgical margin increases [60], [78]. A significant cut-off point was found at 12 mm (p = 0.03), where tumours larger than 12 mm had an increased risk of local recurrence (Fig. 4). Nelson et al. reported a 12% risk for 1-2 cm tumours and an increased risk (31%) in tumours larger than 2 cm [78]. Welter and colleagues successfully

demonstrated in two different publications supported by histopathological analyses that an increase in tumour size reflects an aggressive local growth of the tumour and an increase in the number of satellite cells and their distance from the tumour [57], [60]. Consequently, an increased safety margin for larger tumours was recommended. Affirmatively, Nelson et al. demonstrated an increased risk for local recurrence with larger tumours that diminished with the application of a sufficient margin [78].

The depth of a tumour within the lung tissue (defined as the longest perpendicular distance between the visceral pleura and the deepest margin of the tumour) showed a correlation with local recurrence in wedge resections [61]. After a tumour-depth cut-off point of 23 mm, the risk for local recurrence was significantly increased [61]. This is reasonable and approved by daily practice; control over the safety margin in deeper tumours is vulnerable in wedge resections. This could be overcome by the use of the Nd:YAG laser, which would not only save valuable lung tissue and reduce the need for lobectomy but also reduce the risk of local recurrence.

OS rates 3- and 5-years post LPM were 84% and 49%, respectively. Younger patients had significantly better survival (p = 0.01). The median survival for patients with and without local recurrence was 45 and 49 months, respectively. No significant difference in OS was found in respect to local recurrence at the surgical margin, which could be explained by the fact that all patients who had local recurrences were reoperated (i.e. the recurrence was resected). Schmid et al. confirmed this assumption in their study on LPM in sarcoma, which is well known for disease recurrence, as repeated resections showed longer OS [79]. Jaklitsch et al. reported a >33% 5-year survival rate in up to 5 operative sessions after sequential PM in patients with metastatic pulmonary nodules from various primary tumours [80]. Two-year survival dropped to 19% as local tumour control was lost (i.e. incomplete resection), and they concluded that repeated PM is justifiable provided complete resection is possible [80].

Perioperative chemotherapy, DFI, OP approach and lymph node metastases did not influence local recurrence. However, the spread of the disease in terms of bilateral disease showed a weak trend (HR: 0.7, p = 0.8). A similar trend was seen for single-nodule disease reducing the risk of local recurrence (HR: 1.5, p = 0.6). When the DFI was more than 36 months, a weak correlation with better survival was observed (HR: 0.8, p = 0.7). The low number of patients with local recurrence and colorectal dominance over the study's population contributed to shading the presumed effect of the primary disease on local recurrence.

VATS LPM was performed in only five patients (Fig. 9). Most of the VATS LPM took place in the latter years of the study, reflecting the time taken by the surgeons to learn and master LPM via a minimally invasive approach. None of these patients developed local recurrence. Although these patients had fewer and more peripherally located and smaller nodules, this presents VATS LPM as a doable and reliable option and raises the credibility of VATS PM in well selected patients. However, evidence in support of VATS LPM is currently lacking, although positive experiences with this technique are emerging [54], [81].

Althagafi et al. reported that in 36% of PM (both VATS and the open approach), new nodules, not seen on CT, were detected [82]. Eckardt et al. showed that this was more the case for VATS than the open approach [83]. On the one hand, a study found that up to 48% of these intraoperatively detected lung nodules were benign lesions [21]. On the other hand, Cerfolio et al. reported that 20% of the patients had new malignant nodules not detected on CT [84]. In the 2008 ESTS's members survey, only 28% of the surgeons preferred VATS approach for PM [62].



Figure 9. Resection of a metastatic nodule using an Nd:YAG laser in a video-assisted thoracic surgery approach. The pilot light marks the area targeted by the laser beams [54].

In contrast, Krüger et al. defended the sensitivity of HRCT in a study of 125 open PMs; only 2 malignant nodules were not detected by CT [85]. Furthermore, patients who underwent thoracotomy for PM had significantly more complications than those who underwent a similar VATS resection[86]. According to an expert consensus statement issued by the ESTS, the VATS approach is preferred because of its shortened recovery and lessened effect on short-term quality of life [27]. This improved detection and resection (due to bimanual palpation) in a conventional approach did not improve survival in retrospective studies [2], [27], [86]–[89].

Limitations

This study contained some limitations, so caution is required when interpreting the results. Nevertheless, these limitations should not disrupt the main finding that the local recurrence rate at the surgical margin after LPM is low.

- This study was retrospective and included a relatively small number of patients after the application of the exclusion criteria.
- The 129 LPMs in this study were performed by different surgeons, and the specimens were reviewed by different pathologists, which raised the margin of human error.
- Postoperative haematomas and fibrous scar tissue at the resection site have the same radiological appearance as local recurrence in the early postoperative phase. Thus, undetected local recurrence at the surgical margin cannot be excluded.
- The high number of censored patients (i.e. alive at the end of the study) and the low number of patients who had local recurrence weakened the statistical analysis regarding survival and masked the factors associated with increased risk for local recurrence at the surgical margin.
- The risk of residual cofounders could not be excluded; unmeasured biological and pathological factors that may have influenced local recurrence could have existed.
- The primary malignancies were heterogeneous and not equally presented in this population with colorectal dominance. This limits the generalizability of the results and conclusions.

Conclusion

The use of the 1,318-nm Nd:YAG laser for PM is safe and provides adequate tumour resection for a significantly high number of nodules and thereby preserves valuable lung tissue. The local recurrence rate at the surgical margin after LPM is low when a 5-mm safety margin is obtained. Larger nodules might require larger safety margins. In selected cases, LPM can be also performed per VATS.

List of abbreviations

PM	pulmonary metastasectomy
LPM	laser-assisted pulmonary metastasectomy
ESTS	the European Society of Thoracic Surgeons
NSCLC	non-small cell lung cancer
VATS	video-assisted thoracic surgery
Nd:YAG	neodymium-yttrium aluminium garnet
nm	nanometre
RFA	radiofrequency ablation
SBRT	stereotactic body radiation therapy
mm	millimetre
СТ	computed tomography
DFI	disease-free interval
HRCT	high-resolution CT
PET	positron emission tomography
IRLM	International Registry of Lung Metastases
RCT	randomized controlled trial
DFS	disease-free survival
OS	overall survival
PulMiCC	pulmonary metastasectomy in colorectal cancer
HR	hazard ratio
95% CI	95% confidence interval
ASFC	aerogenous spread with floating cancer cell clusters

List of figures

Fig. 1	Chest computed tomography scan demonstrating a well- rounded, smooth-surfaced pulmonary metastasis in the left upper lobe (arrow).	Page 10
Fig. 2	A) and B): Chest computed tomography scan demonstrating the radiological appearance of a local recurrence at the resection site after laser-assisted pulmonary metastasectomy. In both sections (circled), a new mass has emerged at the former resection site. A surgical metallic clip can be seen within the mass.	Page 16
Fig. 3	Inclusion flowchart showing the exclusion criteria.	Page 19
Fig. 4	Cumulative hazard of local recurrence for the size of the nodule with 12 mm as the cut-off point. Time in months. Green curve: nodules \geq 12 mm, red curve: nodules <12 mm. P = 0.03 (logrank test).	Page 26
Fig. 5	Cumulative hazard for local recurrence for R status. Time in months. Green curve: Rx nodules, red curve: R0 nodules. P < 0.001 (logrank test).	Page 27
Fig. 6	Kaplan–Meier curve showing no significant survival difference for local recurrence at the surgical margin. Time in months. Green curve: patients with local recurrence, red curve: rest of the patients.	Page 29
Fig. 7	Weakened immunoreaction due to elevated temperatures in the coagulation zone at the resection line (on the right-hand side) of the specimen as seen by the pathologist.	Page 33
Fig. 8	Satellite tumour cells, shown by CK20 staining (black arrows), floating around a pulmonary metastasis of colorectal origin (×10 magnification) [57].	Page 34
Fig. 9	Resection of a metastatic nodule using an Nd:YAG laser in a video-assisted thoracic surgery approach. The pilot light marks the area targeted by the laser beams [54].	Page 39

List of tables

Table 1	Current general criteria for pulmonary metastasectomy	Page 13
Table 2	Baseline data per patient. DFI: disease-free interval.	Page 22
Table 3	Baseline data per nodule. UL: upper lobe, ML: middle lobe, and LL: lower lobe.	Page 23
Table 4	Patient distribution in respect of primary disease.	Page 24
Table 5	Local recurrence at the surgical margin in respect of primary disease per nodule.	Page 24
Table 6	Univariate analysis for different measured factors and local recurrence at the surgical margin per patient and per nodule.	Page 28

References

- [1] D. D. Yuh, L. A. Vricella, S. C. Yang, J. R. Doty, and M.-H. Education, Johns Hopkins textbook of cardiothoracic surgery. McGraw-Hill Education, 2014.
- [2] N. Panagiotopoulos, D. Patrini, D. Lawrence, M. Scarci, and S. Mitsos, "Pulmonary metastasectomy and laser-assisted resection," *J. Thorac. Dis.*, vol. 10, no. Suppl 17, pp. S1930–S1933, 2018, doi: 10.21037/jtd.2018.05.08.
- [3] Y. Moon, K. Y. Lee, S. W. Moon, and J. K. Park, "Sublobar resection margin width does not affect recurrence of clinical N0 non-small cell lung cancer presenting as GGO-predominant nodule of 3 cm or less," *World J. Surg.*, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 472–479, 2017.
- [4] N. Sawabata *et al.*, "Optimal distance of malignant negative margin in excision of nonsmall cell lung cancer: a multicenter prospective study," *Ann. Thorac. Surg.*, vol. 77, no. 2, pp. 415–420, 2004.
- [5] G. Divis, "Ein Beitrag zur operativen Behandlung der Lungengeschwuuilste," *Acta Chir Scand*, vol. 62, pp. 329–334, 1927.
- [6] J. D. Barney and E. J. Churchill, "Adenocarcinoma of the kidney with metastasis to the lung: cured by nephrectomy and lobectomy," *J. Urol.*, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 269–276, 1939.
- [7] U. Pastorino and T. Treasure, "A historical note on pulmonary metastasectomy," *J. Thorac. Oncol.*, vol. 5, no. 6, pp. S132–S133, 2010.
- [8] J. Alexander and C. Haight, "Pulmonary resection for solitary metastatic sarcoma and carcinoma," 1947.
- [9] J. LoCicero III, J. W. Frederiksen, R. S. Hartz, and L. L. Michaelis,
 "Laser-assisted parenchyma-sparing pulmonary resection," *J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg.*, vol. 97, no. 5, pp. 732–736, 1989.

- [10] A. Rolle, E. Unsöld, L. Ruprecht, W. Permanetter, and F. Frank,
 "Morphologic aspects of Nd: YAG laser application on lung tissue," in LASER Optoelectronics in Medicine, Springer, 1988, pp. 159–163.
- K. Kodama, O. Doi, M. Higashiyama, M. Tatsuta, and T. Iwanaga,
 "Surgical management of lung metastases: usefulness of resection with the neodymium: yttrium-aluminum-garnet laser with median sternotomy," *J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg.*, vol. 101, no. 5, pp. 901–908, 1991.
- [12] A. Rolle, O. Thetter, K. Häussinger, K. K. J. Hallfeldt, and A. Schmölder,
 "Einsatz des Neodym YAG Lasers in der Thoraxchirurgie," *Herz Gefäss Thorax Chir*, vol. 3, no. 5, pp. 85–91, 1989.
- [13] A. Rolle, R. Koch, S. K. Alpard, and J. B. Zwischenberger, "Lobe-sparing resection of multiple pulmonary metastases with a new 1318-nm Nd:YAG laser first 100 patients," *Ann. Thorac. Surg.*, vol. 74, no. 3, pp. 865–869, 2002, doi: 10.1016/S0003-4975(02)03805-5.
- K. Krishnan, C. Khanna, and L. J. Helman, "The molecular biology of pulmonary metastasis," *Thorac. Surg. Clin.*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 115–124, 2006.
- [15] I. J. Fidler, "Metastasis: quantitative analysis of distribution and fate of tumor emboli labeled with 125I-5-iodo-2'-deoxyuridine," *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.*, vol. 45, no. 4, pp. 773–782, 1970.
- [16] M. J. Van De Vijver *et al.*, "A gene-expression signature as a predictor of survival in breast cancer," *N. Engl. J. Med.*, vol. 347, no. 25, pp. 1999–2009, 2002.
- [17] S. Ramaswamy, K. N. Ross, E. S. Lander, and T. R. Golub, "A molecular signature of metastasis in primary solid tumors," *Nat. Genet.*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 49–54, 2003.
- [18] T. Osei-Agyemang, T. Ploenes, and B. Passlick, "Pulmonary metastasectomy: indication and technique," *Zentralbl. Chir.*, vol. 137, no. 3, pp. 234–241, 2012.

- [19] V. W. Rusch, "Pulmonary metastasectomy: current indications," *Chest*, vol. 107, no. 6, pp. 322S-331S, 1995.
- [20] L. Erhunmwunsee and B. C. Tong, "Preoperative evaluation and indications for pulmonary metastasectomy," *Thorac. Surg. Clin.*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 7–12, 2016.
- [21] M. C. Kang, C. H. Kang, H. J. Lee, J. M. Goo, Y. T. Kim, and J. H. Kim, "Accuracy of 16-channel multi-detector row chest computed tomography with thin sections in the detection of metastatic pulmonary nodules," *Eur. J. cardio-thoracic Surg.*, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 473–479, 2008.
- [22] S. Margaritora *et al.*, "Pulmonary metastases: can accurate radiological evaluation avoid thoracotomic approach?," *Eur. J. cardio-thoracic Surg.*, vol. 21, no. 6, pp. 1111–1114, 2002.
- [23] J. Pfannschmidt *et al.*, "Diagnosis of pulmonary metastases with helical CT: the effect of imaging techniques," *Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg.*, vol. 56, no. 08, pp. 471–475, 2008.
- [24] M. E. Mayerhoefer, H. Prosch, C. J. Herold, M. Weber, and G.
 Karanikas, "Assessment of pulmonary melanoma metastases with 18 F FDG PET/CT: which PET-negative patients require additional tests for definitive staging?," *Eur. Radiol.*, vol. 22, no. 11, pp. 2451–2457, 2012.
- [25] K. A. Kesler and J. P. Donohue, "Combined urologic and thoracic approaches for advanced or disseminated testis cancer," *Atlas Urol. Clin. North Am.*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 79–94, 1999.
- [26] D. J. Boffa and V. W. Rusch, "Surgical techniques for nonseminomatous germ cell tumors metastatic to the lung," *Chest Surg. Clin.*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 739–748, 2002.
- [27] J. R. Handy *et al.*, "Expert Consensus Document on Pulmonary Metastasectomy," *Ann. Thorac. Surg.*, vol. 107, no. 2, pp. 631–649, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2018.10.028.

- [28] G. Friedel *et al.*, "Results of lung metastasectomy from breast cancer: prognostic criteria on the basis of 467 cases of the International Registry of Lung Metastases," *Eur. J. cardio-thoracic Surg.*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 335–344, 2002.
- [29] T. Treasure *et al.*, "Pulmonary Metastasectomy versus Continued Active Monitoring in Colorectal Cancer (PulMiCC): A multicentre randomised clinical trial," *Trials*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 1–13, 2019, doi: 10.1186/s13063-019-3837-y.
- [30] R. Mallick and T. Demmy, "Regional lung chemotherapy techniques," *Innovations*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 1–9, 2011.
- [31] Y. Zheng and H. C. Fernando, "Surgical and nonresectional therapies for pulmonary metastasis," *Surg. Clin.*, vol. 90, no. 5, pp. 1041–1051, 2010.
- [32] M. C. Ambrogi *et al.*, "Percutaneous radiofrequency ablation of lung tumours: results in the mid-term," *Eur. J. cardio-thoracic Surg.*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 177–183, 2006.
- [33] T. Schneider *et al.*, "Intraoperative radiofrequency ablation of lung metastases and histologic evaluation," *Ann. Thorac. Surg.*, vol. 87, no. 2, pp. 379–384, 2009.
- [34] K. E. Rusthoven *et al.*, "Multi-institutional phase I/II trial of stereotactic body radiation therapy for liver metastases," *J Clin Oncol*, vol. 27, no. 10, pp. 1572–1578, 2009.
- [35] N. R. Thomford, L. B. Woolner, and O. T. Clagett, "The surgical treatment of metastatic tumors in the lungs," *J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg.*, vol. 49, no. 3, pp. 357–363, 1965.
- [36] H. Kondo, T. Okumura, Y. Ohde, and K. Nakagawa, "Surgical treatment for metastatic malignancies. Pulmonary metastasis: indications and outcomes," *Int. J. Clin. Oncol.*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 81–85, 2005.
- [37] M. Casiraghi et al., "A 10-year single-center experience on 708 lung

metastasectomies: the evidence of the 'international registry of lung metastases," *J. Thorac. Oncol.*, vol. 6, no. 8, pp. 1373–1378, 2011.

- U. Pastorino *et al.*, "Long-term results of lung metastasectomy: Prognostic analyses based on 5206 cases," *J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg.*, vol. 113, no. 1, pp. 37–49, 1997, doi: 10.1016/S0022-5223(97)70397-0.
- [39] K. Hornbech, J. Ravn, and D. A. Steinbrüchel, "Outcome after pulmonary metastasectomy: Analysis of 5 years consecutive surgical resections 2002-2006," *J. Thorac. Oncol.*, vol. 6, no. 10, pp. 1733–1740, 2011, doi: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e3182287da2.
- [40] R. N. Younes, A. L. Fares, and J. L. Gross, "Pulmonary metastasectomy: A multivariate analysis of 440 patients undergoing complete resection," *Interact. Cardiovasc. Thorac. Surg.*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 156–161, 2012, doi: 10.1093/icvts/ivr076.
- [41] P. Hermanek and C. Wittekind, "The pathologist and the residual tumor (R) classification," *Pathol. Pract.*, vol. 190, no. 2, pp. 115–123, 1994.
- [42] M. Higashiyama, T. Tokunaga, T. Nakagiri, D. Ishida, H. Kuno, and J. Okami, "Pulmonary metastasectomy: outcomes and issues according to the type of surgical resection," *Gen. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg.*, vol. 63, no. 6, pp. 320–330, 2015, doi: 10.1007/s11748-015-0544-9.
- [43] M. F. Berry, "Role of segmentectomy for pulmonary metastases.," Ann. Cardiothorac. Surg., vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 176–17682, 2014, doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2225-319X.2014.02.08.
- [44] J. Bellier *et al.*, "A plea for thoracoscopic resection of solitary pulmonary nodule in cancer patients," *Surg. Endosc.*, vol. 31, no. 11, pp. 4705–4710, 2017.
- [45] A. Kirschbaum, S. Braun, P. Rexin, D. K. Bartsch, and P. Seyfer,"Comparison of local tissue damage: Monopolar cutter versus Nd:YAG laser for lung parenchyma resection. An experimental study," *Interact.*

Cardiovasc. Thorac. Surg., vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 1–6, 2014, doi: 10.1093/icvts/ivt419.

- [46] J. P. Minton, N. C. Andrews, and J. E. Jesseph, "Pulsed laser energy in the management of multiple pulmonary metastases.," Ohio State Univ., Columbus, 1967.
- [47] A. Rolle, A. Pereszlenyi, R. Koch, M. Richard, and B. Baier, "Is surgery for multiple lung metastases reasonable? A total of 328 consecutive patients with multiple-laser metastasectomies with a new 1318-nm Nd:YAG laser," *J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg.*, vol. 131, no. 6, pp. 1236– 1242, 2006, doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2005.11.053.
- [48] A. Rolle and A. Pereszlenyi, "Laser resection of lung metastasis.," *Multimed. Man. Cardiothorac. Surg. MMCTS*, vol. 2005, no. 628, p. mmcts-2004, 2005.
- [49] T. Osei-Agyemang, E. Palade, J. Haderthauer, T. Ploenes, V. Yaneva, and B. Passlick, "Pulmonary metastasectomy: an analysis of technical and oncological outcomes in 301 patients with a focus on laser resection," *Zentralbl. Chir.*, vol. 138, pp. S45-51, 2013.
- [50] B. Baier, A. Kern, L. Kaderali, B. Bis, D. Koschel, and A. Rolle,
 "Retrospective survival analysis of 237 consecutive patients with multiple pulmonary metastases from advanced renal cell carcinoma exclusively resected by a 1318-nm laser," *Interact. Cardiovasc. Thorac. Surg.*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 211–217, 2015, doi: 10.1093/icvts/ivv120.
- [51] I. Moneke, F. Funcke, S. Schmid, T. Osei-Agyemang, and B. Passlick, "Pulmonary laser-assisted metastasectomy is associated with prolonged survival in patients with colorectal cancer," *J. Thorac. Dis.*, vol. 11, no. 8, p. 3241, 2019.
- [52] S. Macherey, F. Doerr, T. Wahlers, and K. Hekmat, "Role of laser resection in pulmonary metastasectomy," *Pneumologie*, vol. 71, no. 7, pp. 475–479, 2017.

- [53] C. Meyer, D. Bartsch, N. Mirow, and A. Kirschbaum, "Video-assisted laser resection of lung metastases-feasibility of a new surgical technique," *Thorac Cardiovasc Surg*, vol. 65, no. 5, pp. 382–386, 2017.
- [54] J. B. Mc Loughlin, K. E. O'Sullivan, R. H. Brown, and D. A. Eaton, "Limax Nd: YAG laser–assisted thoracoscopic resection of pulmonary metastases; a single centre's initial experience," *Irish J. Med. Sci.*, vol. 188, no. 3, pp. 771–776, 2019.
- [55] G. Marulli *et al.*, "A prospective randomized trial comparing stapler and laser techniques for interlobar fissure completion during pulmonary lobectomy," *Lasers Med. Sci.*, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 505–511, 2013.
- [56] S. Shiono *et al.*, "Predictive factors for local recurrence of resected colorectal lung metastases," *Ann. Thorac. Surg.*, vol. 80, no. 3, pp. 1040–1045, 2005, doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2004.12.033.
- [57] S. Welter, D. Theegarten, T. Trarbach, F. Maletzki, G. Stamatis, and M. Tötsch, "Safety distance in the resection of colorectal lung metastases: A prospective evaluation of satellite tumor cells with immunohistochemistry," *J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg.*, vol. 141, no. 5, pp. 1218–1222, 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2010.08.089.
- [58] M. Higashiyama *et al.*, "Intraoperative lavage cytologic analysis of surgical margins as a predictor of local recurrence in pulmonary metastasectomy," *Arch. Surg.*, vol. 137, no. 4, pp. 469–474, 2002, doi: 10.1001/archsurg.137.4.469.
- [59] S. Kim *et al.*, "Pulmonary resection of metastatic sarcoma: prognostic factors associated with improved outcomes," *Ann. Thorac. Surg.*, vol. 92, no. 5, pp. 1780–1787, 2011.
- [60] S. Welter *et al.*, "Growth patterns of pulmonary metastases: Should we adjust resection techniques to primary histology and size?," *Eur. J. Cardio-thoracic Surg.*, vol. 52, no. 1, pp. 39–46, 2017, doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezx063.

- [61] J. H. Chung *et al.*, "Impact of resection margin length and tumor depth on the local recurrence after thoracoscopic pulmonary wedge resection of a single colorectal metastasis," *J. Thorac. Dis.*, vol. 11, no. 5, p. 1879, 2019.
- [62] E. Internullo, S. D. Cassivi, D. Van Raemdonck, G. Friedel, and T. Treasure, "Pulmonary metastasectomy: A survey of current practice amongst members of the european society of thoracic surgeons," *J. Thorac. Oncol.*, vol. 3, no. 11, pp. 1257–1266, 2008, doi: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e31818bd9da.
- [63] K. Franzke *et al.*, "Pulmonary metastasectomy A retrospective comparison of surgical outcomes after laser-assisted and conventional resection," *Eur. J. Surg. Oncol.*, vol. 43, no. 7, pp. 1357–1364, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.ejso.2016.09.001.
- [64] T. Åberg, K.-Å. Malmberg, B. Nilsson, and E. Nõu, "The effect of metastasectomy: fact or fiction?," *Ann. Thorac. Surg.*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 378–384, 1980.
- [65] T. Åberg and T. Treasure, "Analysis of pulmonary metastasis as an indication for operation: An evidence-based approach," *Eur. J. Cardiothoracic Surg.*, vol. 50, no. 5, pp. 792–798, 2016, doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezw140.
- [66] T. Treasure, L. Fallowfield, B. Lees, and V. Farewell, "Pulmonary metastasectomy in colorectal cancer: The PulMiCC trial," *Thorax*, vol. 67, no. 2, pp. 185–187, 2012, doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2011-200015.
- [67] L. Erhunmwunsee and T. A. D'Amico, "Surgical management of pulmonary metastases," *Ann. Thorac. Surg.*, vol. 88, no. 6, pp. 2052– 2060, 2009.
- [68] Y. Lievens *et al.*, "Defining oligometastatic disease from a radiation oncology perspective: an ESTRO-ASTRO consensus document," *Radiother. Oncol.*, vol. 148, pp. 157–166, 2020.

- [69] S. Shiono *et al.*, "Histopathologic prognostic factors in resected colorectal lung metastases," *Ann. Thorac. Surg.*, vol. 79, no. 1, pp. 278–282, 2005, doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2004.06.096.
- [70] Y. A. Lussier *et al.*, "Oligo-and polymetastatic progression in lung metastasis (es) patients is associated with specific microRNAs," *PLoS One*, vol. 7, no. 12, p. e50141, 2012.
- [71] S. Welter, J. Jacobs, T. Krbek, C. Poettgen, and G. Stamatis, "Prognostic impact of lymph node involvement in pulmonary metastases from colorectal cancer," *Eur. J. cardio-thoracic Surg.*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 167– 172, 2007.
- [72] A. Rolle and M. Kozłowski, "Laser resection of lung parenchyma--a new technical and clinical approach.," *Rocz. Akad. Med. Bialymst.*, vol. 50, pp. 193–196, 2005.
- [73] J. Pfannschmidt, H. Dienemann, and H. Hoffmann, "Surgical Resection of Pulmonary Metastases From Colorectal Cancer: A Systematic Review of Published Series," *Ann. Thorac. Surg.*, vol. 84, no. 1, pp. 324–338, 2007, doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2007.02.093.
- [74] H. Vogelsang, S. Haas, C. Hierholzer, U. Berger, J. R. Siewert, and H. Präuer, "Factors influencing survival after resection of pulmonary metastases from colorectal cancer," *Br. J. Surg.*, vol. 91, no. 8, pp. 1066– 1071, 2004.
- [75] S. Shiono *et al.*, "Outcomes of segmentectomy and wedge resection for pulmonary metastases from colorectal cancer," *Eur. J. Cardio-Thoracic Surg.*, vol. 51, no. 3, pp. 504–510, 2017.
- [76] Y. Kawaguchi *et al.*, "Locoregional recurrence via mucus- mediated extension following lung resection for mucinous tumors," pp. 1–10, 2021.
- [77] S. Okumura *et al.*, "Pulmonary resection for metastatic colorectal cancer: experiences with 159 patients," *J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg.*, vol. 112, no. 4, pp. 867–874, 1996.

- [78] D. B. Nelson *et al.*, "Surgical margins and risk of local recurrence after wedge resection of colorectal pulmonary metastases," *J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg.*, vol. 157, no. 4, pp. 1648–1655, 2019.
- [79] S. Schmid, U. T. Le, C. Zeisel, B. Haager, and B. Passlick, "Pulmonary metastasectomy in sarcoma-experiences with laserassisted resection," *J. Thorac. Dis.*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 314–320, 2018, doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.12.06.
- [80] M. T. Jaklitsch *et al.*, "Sequential thoracic metastasectomy prolongs survival by re-establishing local control within the chest," *J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg.*, vol. 121, no. 4, pp. 657–667, 2001.
- [81] A. Ojanguren, W. Karenovics, S. Dackam, M. Demarchi, and F. Triponez,
 "Laser pulmonary metastasectomy by video-assisted thoracic surgery," *J. Vis. Surg.*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 40–40, 2019, doi: 10.21037/jovs.2019.03.06.
- [82] K. T. Althagafi *et al.*, "Missed pulmonary metastasis," *Asian Cardiovasc. Thorac. Ann.*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 183–186, 2014.
- [83] J. Eckardt and P. B. Licht, "Thoracoscopic or open surgery for pulmonary metastasectomy: An observer blinded study," *Ann. Thorac. Surg.*, vol. 98, no. 2, pp. 466–470, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2014.04.063.
- [84] R. J. Cerfolio, A. S. Bryant, T. P. McCarty, and D. J. Minnich, "A prospective study to determine the incidence of non-imaged malignant pulmonary nodules in patients who undergo metastasectomy by thoracotomy with lung palpation.," *Ann. Thorac. Surg.*, vol. 91, no. 6, pp. 1691–1696, Jun. 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2011.02.075.
- [85] M. Krüger *et al.*, "Minimally invasive chest surgery. Is palpation control still necessary with modern computed tomography?," *Chirurg*, vol. 87, no. 2, pp. 136–143, 2016, doi: 10.1007/s00104-015-0013-0.
- [86] E. Mutsaerts, F. A. N. Zoetmulder, S. Meijer, P. Baas, A. A. M. Hart, and E. J. T. Rutgers, "Long term survival of thoracoscopic metastasectomy vs metastasectomy by thoracotomy in patients with a solitary pulmonary

lesion," Eur. J. Surg. Oncol., vol. 28, no. 8, pp. 864–868, 2002.

- [87] D. Gossot *et al.*, "Resection of pulmonary metastases from sarcoma: can some patients benefit from a less invasive approach?," *Ann. Thorac. Surg.*, vol. 87, no. 1, pp. 238–243, 2009.
- [88] M. Carballo, M. S. Maish, D. E. Jaroszewski, and C. E. Holmes, "Videoassisted thoracic surgery (VATS) as a safe alternative for the resection of pulmonary metastases: A retrospective cohort study," *J. Cardiothorac. Surg.*, vol. 4, pp. 1–12, 2009, doi: 10.1186/1749-8090-4-13.
- [89] T. Markowiak *et al.*, "Video-assisted pulmonary metastectomy is equivalent to thoracotomy regarding resection status and survival," *J. Cardiothorac. Surg.*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 1–8, 2021, doi: 10.1186/s13019-021-01460-8.

Acknowledgements

No words can express how grateful and thankful I am to my dear Fatem, my inspiration and my muse. I am deeply thankful to my parents who enabled my education, supported my ambition and gave me the chance to thrive. I could not wish for greater support, love and understanding. This thesis is for all of you.

I would like to express my deep and sincere gratitude to my research supervisor, Prof. Dr med. Thomas Graeter, Chief of the Thoracic Surgery Department/Löwenstein Lung Medical Centre, and Assistant Professor, University of Saarland, for his continued guidance, inspiration, advice and support throughout this work.

Special thanks go to my beloved sister Dr Sundus Shalabi, PhD candidate/Beckman Research Institute, City of Hope, for her professional, statistical and emotional support. I also confirm my gratitude to Dr Ahmed Ehab for his continuous support, care and advice.

Last but not least, I would like to thank Ms Lena Rampmeier for her help and effort with the data collection and contacting a vast network of house physicians and pulmonologists.

Curriculum vitae

Aus datenschutzrechtlichen Gründen wird der Lebenslauf in der elektronischen Fassung der Dissertation nicht veröffentlicht.

Veröffentlichungen

5/ 2021	Shalabi, Ahmad, et al. "Birt–Hogg–Dubé Syndrome: A Rare Genetic Cause of Recurrent Pneumothoraxes in a Young Woman Treated with VATS Pleurectomy—Case Report and Review of the Literature." SN Comprehensive Clinical Medicine (2021): 1-5.
1/ 2019	GlobalSurg Collaborative, et al. "Pooled analysis of WHO Surgical Safety Checklist use and mortality after emergency laparotomy." British Journal of Surgery 106.2 (2019): e103e112.
5/ 2018	Bhangu, Aneel, et al. "Surgical site infection after gastrointestinal surgery in high-income, middle-income, and low-income countries: a prospective, international, multicentre cohort study." The Lancet Infectious Diseases (2018).
1/ 2018	Karliova, Irem, et al. " <i>Repair of a Quadricuspid Autograft</i> ." The Annals of thoracic surgery (2018).
1/ 2018	Karliova, Irem, et al. "Cardiac Computed Tomography as an Imaging Modality in Coronary Anomalies." The Annals of thoracic surgery 105.1 (2018): e15-e17.
1/ 2017	Shalabi, Ahmad, et al. "Infective endocarditis caused by Pseudomonas stutzeri in a patient with Marfan syndrome: Case report and brief literature review." IDCases 10 (2017): 22-25.

Kongress Präsentation

27-29/11/2014 *"The Golden Ratio Revisited: Evidence from Cardio-Thoracic Dimensions"* at **The Fifth International Palestinian Medical Conference**, Bethlehem/ Palestine.

Aus datenschutzrechtlichen Gründen wird der Lebenslauf in der elektronischen Fassung der Dissertation nicht veröffentlicht.

Tag der Promotion: 20.07.2022

Dekan: Univ.-Prof. Dr. med. Michael D. Menger

Berichterstatter: Prof. Dr. med H.j.Schäfers Prof. Dr. med. Dr. rer. nat. R.Bals